# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARC CHRISTMAS,	1		
Appellant,	[		
v.	ł	CASE NO.	79044
STATE OF FLORIDA,	ł		
Appellee.	/		

On appeal from the Circuit Court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit, in and for Duval County, Florida

# AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TERESA J. SOPP Sasser & Sopp One Harbert Center 7077 Bonneval Road, Suite 200 Jacksonville, Florida 32216-6062 Florida Bar No. 265934

SID J. WHITE

DEC 10 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

By-

(904) 296-2640

Attorney for Appellant

###

### **ISSUE I:**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS ALLEGEDLY MADE TO BAILIFFS WHILE IN CUSTODY

### **ISSUE II:**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRIDING THE JURY'S RECOMMENDATION OF LIFE AND IN SENTENCING CHRISTMAS TO DEATH

### **ISSUE III:**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN IMPROPERLY FINDING AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES AND IN FAILING TO FIND AND CONSIDER EXISTING MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES, THEREBY RENDERING CHRISTMAS' DEATH SENTENCE UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9, 16, AND 17 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

A. THE COURT IMPROPERLY FOUND THAT THE HOMICIDES WERE COMMITTED IN AN ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL MANNER.

B. THE COURT IMPROPERLY FOUND THAT CHRISTMAS HAD A PREVIOUS CONVICTION FOR A VIOLENT FELONY.

C. THE COURT IMPROPERLY FOUND THAT THE HOMICIDES WERE COMMITTED TO AVOID ARREST AND WERE COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MANNER.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by a Duval County Grand Jury on February 7, 1991, for two counts of first degree murder and one count of armed robbery. (R-3). Prior to trial, appellant filed the following motions attacking the constitutionality of the death penalty:

- 1. motion to declare section 921.141(5)(h), <u>Florida Statutes</u>, unconstitutional. (R-25);
- 2. motion to declare section 921.141, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, unconstitutional as applied because of arbitrariness in jury overrides and sentencing. (R-50);
- 3. motion to declare sections 782.04 and 921.141, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, unconstitutional because of treatment of mitigating circumstances. (R-76);
- 4. motion to declare sections 921.141 and 922.10, <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u>, unconstitutional because electrocution is cruel and unusual punishment. (R-81);
- 5. motion to declare sections 782.04 and 921.141, <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u>, unconstitutional for a variety of reasons. (R-95);
- 6. motion to declare section 921.141(5)(d), <u>Florida Statutes</u>, unconstitutional. (R-129);
- 7. motion to declare section 921.141(5)(i), <u>Florida Statutes</u>, unconstitutional. (R-142);

Each of these motions was denied by the trial court. (R-211; R-213; R-214; R-215; R-216; R-225; R-226).

Appellant filed a motion to suppress physical evidence seized

as a result of the execution of a search warrant on January 23, 1991. (R-198). After an evidentiary hearing (T-121-245), the motion to suppress physical evidence was denied. (R-245).

Appellant filed a motion in limine concerning similar fact evidence (evidence that appellant and his co-defendant had planned a robbery of another Pizza Hut) (R-294); that motion was also denied on September 24, 1991. (R-294). Appellant also filed a motion to suppress physical evidence seized from him at the time of his arrest (R-376); that motion was also denied after evidentiary hearing. (R-411).

A jury was selected and the case was tried. During the trial, appellant purportedly made incriminating statements while in the custody of Jacksonville Sheriff's Office bailiffs. (T-1111-80). Trial counsel made an oral motion to suppress, citing violations of the Fifth and Sixth Amendments to the United States Constitution (T-1141-45). After a mid-trial hearing, the motion to suppress was denied. (T-1150). The trial court held the bailiffs were not law enforcement officers, that the statements were made freely and voluntarily , and that the defendant had initiated the statements. (T-1149-50). The defendant was tried and the jury returned verdicts of quilty as charged. (T-1264-65). An advisory sentencing proceeding was held; the defendant presented mitigating evidence. (T-1297-1480). The state presented no evidence in aggravation but relied merely on evidence presented at trial. (T-1297-1480). The jury returned an advisory recommendation of a life sentence. (T-1558). Trial counsel filed a motion for new trial (R-485); that

motion was denied. (T-1585). Sentencing was held; the mother of one of the victims testified as to the impact of her son's death on the family. (T-1587-95). The state argued at sentencing that it had proved six aggravating circumstances, and as well that it had successfully disputed that mitigating circumstances. (T-1595-1605).

The trial court had ordered a pre-sentence investigation (T-1563); trial counsel filed a motion to ignore the PSI as to the first-degree murder counts. (R-516). Trial counsel requested that the trial court ignore the PSI because it failed to properly set forth and analyze aggravation and mitigation.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the morning of January 21, 1991, two employees of the pizza Hut on Edgewood Avenue were found dead in the mens' room. (T-679). Both had been shot by a .22 caliber weapon; the store safe had been burglarized and approximately \$900.00 in cash was missing. (T-; T-94). Investigation revealed that two former employees had been the last patrons of the evening. (T-162).

Detectives obtained an arrest warrant for appellant Marc Christmas (T-125), as well as an arrest warrant for his roommate (and co-defendant), Steven Stein. (R-376). The arrest warrants, along with a search warrant for the mobile home in which the two resided, were served on January 23, 1991. (R-376; T-126). Detective Scott obtained three spent .22 caliber rifle casings from Kyle White, Christmas' and Stein's roommate. (T-909). Several items were seized from Christmas at the time of his arrest, including a green camouflage jacket, a motorcycle helmet and sales transaction documents for the motorcycle and the helmet. (T-848-50). At the time of the arrests, a loaded .38 caliber Rossi pistol was recovered from the co-defendant Stein, while Marc Christmas was unarmed. (T-856).

At a hearing on a motion to suppress the physical evidence seized as a result of the search, Detective Herb Scott testified that although he had submitted the testimony in support of the affidavit to obtain the search warrant for the residence he had not spoken directly to the persons who had provided the information. (T-125).

Firearms expert David Warniment of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement testified that he had examined two firearms and fired cartridge cases and compared them with fragments of bullets taken from the victims. (T-1094-99). Warniment testified that the fired casings found at the scene matched the fired casings taken from the residence of Stein and Christmas (T-1099); and that the most likely firearm from which the bullets and casings could have come would have been a Marlin .22 caliber rifle. Warniment also testified that he had examined state's exhibit 43, a Marlin .22 caliber rifle, and had test fired it to determine that the casings at the scene had been expelled from that firearm. (T-1103-04).

Dr. Arruza, deputy medical examiner for the Fourth Judicial Circuit, testified that she had performed the autopsies on both victims. (T-741; T-759-60). Dr. Arruza testified that both victims had been shot by the same firearm. (T-775). Dr. Arruza also testified she had been present at the scene and had examined the bodies and the blood spatter evidence.

Dr. Arruza's autopsy of victim Bobby Hood revealed five gunshot wounds inflicted from four to eight inches away. (T-741-48). Dr. Arruza retrieved four spent .22 caliber bullets -- one from the chest and three from the brain. (T-741-48). Dr. Arruza opined that at the time of the shooting, Hood had been sitting on the floor close to the wall and that the person who shot him was standing close to him and to his left. (T-756).

Dr. Arruza's autopsy of Dennis Saunders revealed four gunshot wounds, all inflicted by a .22 caliber weapon. (T-760-63). The

autopsy revealed two wounds to the neck, a fatal wound to the chest and a wound to the left thigh. (T-760-63). Dr. Arruza opined that at the time Dennis Saunders was shot, he was sitting down and was shot at a level close to the floor. (T-768). Dr. Arruza testified that because of the close range of the shots, it was very likely the person firing the shots would have gotten blood on themselves. (T-778).

During the course of the trial, appellant purportedly made incriminating statements to two bailiffs while in the holding cell behind the courtroom. (T-1112). The trial court heard a proffer of the bailiffs' testimony. (T-1113). Jeffrey Wilson testified that while appellant was in the holding cell during a court recess, he [appellant] said "that was bullshit, what they were saying out here wasn't true." (T-115). Wilson testified he told Christmas that the photographs [of the victims] were "disgusting," and that in response to the bailiff, Christmas said "they weren't so bad." (T-1115). Wilson testified he then asked Christmas who had shot the victims and that Christmas responded by saying that Stein had but that he [Christmas] was just as guilty. (T-1115-16). According to Wilson, Christmas then stated Stein had been the one to go out the backdoor of the Pizza Hut and obtain the .22 rifle. (T-1116). Christmas then purportedly told Wilson various details of the shooting in the bathroom. (T-1117).

On cross-examination during the proffer, trial counsel established that bailiff Wilson was an employee of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office and was responsible for maintaining security for

prisoners while in court. (T-1119). Moreover, Wilson testified that during the time Christmas purportedly made the statement, Christmas was represented by counsel and that questions were in fact asked of Christmas by one of the two bailiffs. (T-1121-23).

Bailiff Jeffrey Carroll also testified similarly and stated he had in fact asked questions of Christmas. (T-1135-36). Neither of the bailiffs read <u>Miranda</u> warnings to Christmas prior to the questioning. (T-1121; T-1133). The trial court determined that the bailiffs were not law enforcement officers, that appellant initiated the conversations with the bailiffs and that they were freely and voluntarily made. (T-1149-50). The court allowed the testimony of the two bailiffs as to the statements to be presented to the jury. (T-1154-74).

Christmas was convicted by the jury as charged with two counts of first-degree murder and one count of armed robbery. (T-1265). The jury was convened at a later date for the advisory sentencing proceeding. (T-1295).

At the advisory hearing, Christmas presented mitigating evidence showing that he suffered from a severe personality disorder, that he was a passive, following type of person who tended to be easily led, and that he was capable of good, kind acts. Christmas presented testimony of family members, of his high school guidance counselor, of a high school teacher, and of four Department of Corrections employees.

Leonard Christmas, Marc's father, testified that Marc was twenty-one years old in January, 1991, as the time the crime was

committed. (T-1299). Mr. Christmas testified that he and Marc's mother, Cynthia, had been married for twenty years (T-1299), but were now divorced. Mr. Christmas testified that he moved his family often, beginning when Marc was around eleven or twelve, and that afterwards, Marc began getting in trouble in school. (T-1303-04). Mr. Christmas testified that although Marc was smart, he was very active and became bored with school. (T-1301-02). Mr. Christmas testified Marc had quit high school in the tenth grade, but had later gotten his G.E.D. (T-1304).

Mr. Christmas testified that while he and his wife were going through their separation and subsequent divorce, Marc was arrested, prosecuted and incarcerated. (T-1305). He also testified that for the most part, Marc was always with someone else when he got in trouble. (T-1323). Mr. Leonard Christmas testified that he had never known Marc to be a violent person or carry a weapon. (T-1309). Mr. Christmas testified as to Marc's talents and strong points:

Marc is an artist; drawing; he liked to work with his hands. As a matter of fact, he had gotten a little cart from his friend, obtained a go cart and the go cart needed many, many parts to it and I had to go out of town and when I came back by my lawn mower was taken completely apart to fix the go cart, and I wondered how could a kid that age have done it where I had to take a manual to put the thing back together the way it was. So, he is very talented.

(T-1312-13).

Mr. Christmas testified that if Marc were to be sentenced to life in prison that he would maintain contact with his son. (T-1313).

Mary McDaniel, a special needs teacher, also testified at the advisory sentencing hearing. (T-1324). She testified that she was a relative of Marc Christmas, and that she and her family had spent a great deal of time with Marc. (T-1326-27). McDaniel testified that Marc was a child who needed a lot of attention, but that she didn't think Marc's father could provide the attention and affection that he had needed. (T-1327-28).

The defense presented testimony of Betty J. Moerings, a retired guidance counselor from Orange Park High School. (T-1333). Ms. Moerings testified that she had seen Marc Christmas during his eighth and ninth grade years while he was a student in the emotionally handicapped program. (T-1334-35). Ms. Moerings testified that Marc:

...could not academically excel because his emotional problems got in the way of his performance academically. He never internalized anything, he didn't think about the consequences of his actions, he wanted instant gratification and he often came to school more often to socialize than to learn.

(T-1335). Ms. Moerings also testified:

Well, he had a short attention span for one thing and, you know, he was easily distracted and he just lived for today, what he could do today. He didn't think about tomorrow and homework and things like that, he didn't think on the future.

(T-1336). When asked if Marc was able to get the attention he needed in regular classes, Ms. Moerings responded:

No, he was off of the system a lot of the time but he certainly would have been lost in regular class. Also, he was in special educational classes, but he attended some regular classes like P.E. and workshop, so some kinds he attended because he was main-steamed [sic].

(T-1336). Ms. Moerings also testified that Marc was definitely a

follower because he would be easily influenced to skip school or do something that was not in his own best self interest, and because other people suggested it, he would do so. (T-1337).

Jo Lee Nasworth, a teacher of emotionally handicapped children, testified that she had worked with Marc Christmas during the 1984-85 school year. Ms. Nasworth described Marc's problems:

At that time it was my understanding that he had difficulty getting along with persons and authority figures and in regular main stream he was behind academically, he had a history of problems in school and sometimes when students have those type of problems they miss out on the regular day to day teaching and, therefore, don't learn concepts that are necessary to progress their education. It was my understanding that Marc had had a history of problems in school and he was behind in language and in mathematics.

(T-1347). Notwithstanding her interpretation of Marc's disabilities, Ms. Nasworth and Marc got along well:

I found Marc to be a very warm friendly individual, eager to participate and listen. He was very honest with me. He told me almost from the beginning that he hated school and I understand that most of the students in my room do have that feeling because their past history in school has been very negative and very unrewarding. However, when I asked participation and when I asked that he bring materials in or to be responsible for doing certain things, he was very eager to participate and he tried and it was very difficult for him. I feel that he got along well within the classroom. I knew that once he went outside the door that may not necessarily be true.

(T-1349). Ms. Nasworth also characterized Marc as a follower

because

... it was always as if Marc was looking for something. I didn't see him take the initiative. He would more or less observe what was happening or going on around him and he was more of a joiner than one to start or initiate an activity.

(T-1348-49).

Dr. Johann Prewett, a licensed clinical psychologist, also testified on behalf of Marc Christmas at the advisory sentencing hearing. (T-1351). Dr. Prewett testified that he is the chief of the division of research and of the psychological section at University Medical Center in Jacksonville and that he also conducts an independent private practice in Orange Park. (T-1351-52). Dr. Prewett, who has been providing direct clinical services since 1979, testified that on many occasions he provides psychological testing and evaluation services for persons charged with crimes, and that he works with Dr. Ernest Miller, a forensic psychiatrist who is the Chairman of the Department of Psychiatry. (T-1352).

Dr. Prewett testified that he conducted a clinical interview of Christmas, obtained background information and administered psychological tests in connection with his evaluation. (T-1357). Dr. Prewett explained to the jury that he had performed the following widely accepted tests on Marc Christmas:

Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale Test Woodcock-Johnson test Beck Depression Rotter incomplete sentence blanks Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Thenatic [sic] Apperception Test

(T-1357). Dr. Prewett concluded after analyzing the test results that:

The testing suggested that he lacked self confidence and is quite sensitive to what others think about him; his underlying needs seem to revolve around feelings supported and valued by others. However, the testing suggests that he had inadequate social skills and it was quite difficult for him to meet these underlying needs of being supported and valued by others. His self concept was quite poor and it would seem to be characterized by underlying inadequacies of personality traits and a lack of self concept. In general his testing would suggest that his inner personal relationships he would be rather passive dependent, meaning that he would be passive dependent others [sic] and nonassertive.

(T-1359-60). Dr. Prewett explained to the jury

Well, being passive and being dependent and being nonassertive directly implied that Mr. Christmas would tend to be a follower, not a leader, it would be quite difficult for him to assert himself in social situations.

(T-1360). Dr. Prewett also testified that Marc Christmas was not psychopathic or antisocial [sic]. (T-1361). Dr. Prewett diagnosed Marc Christmas as suffering from a personality disorder, personality problem dependent personality. (T-1361). Based upon his testing and evaluation of Marc, Dr. Prewett concluded that Marc's criminal activity would not have been done alone. (T-1365).

The defense also presented the testimony of Ora Lewis Lowery at the advisory sentencing hearing. (T-1387). Mr. Lowery testified that he was a mental health counselor in private practice in Orange Park and that he had been involved in that field since about 1981. (T-1388). Mr. Lowery, who has a masters degree, testified that he first met Marc Christmas in 1984 at Orange Park High School, and that Marc had been referred to him because of problems with his friends, conflicts with his parents and because of poor performance in school. (T-1389).

Mr. Lowery testified that the purpose of the counseling with Marc was to try to figure out what might be causing Marc's behavior and then to work with him in understanding himself as well as his mother and his father in trying to improve the communications within the family members. (T-1393). Mr. Lowery testified that on

many occasions, Marc acted without a full understanding of the consequences of his behavior -- "blindly ignoring what the consequences could be." (T-1397). Mr. Lowery also testified that as long as Marc is in a structured environment he would pretty much follow the rules and not be what you might call a troublemaker. (T-1398).

Marc Christmas also presented testimony of four persons who were associated with the Department of Corrections when he [Marc] was at Crossroads Wilderness Institution in Port Charlotte, Florida. (T-1402-51). Joseph Chestnut, who was the director of the program during Marc's tenure there, testified that Marc completed quite a few of the programs available, and received certificates in a number of areas. (T-1406). Chestnut testified that Marc was one of the first to start an on-the-job training program. (T-1406). Mr. Chestnut testified that Marc never created any major problems, that he never left the job site, he was always on the job, he went to church on the weekends and paid off his restitution. (T-1407). Chestnut also testified that Marc was not a leader, always a follower, and that he could be talked into minor rules violations by others. (T-1408). Chestnut testified that it seemed out of character for Marc to be involved in two homicides. (T-1408).

Ray Olsen also testified that he had known Marc Christmas at Crossroads Wilderness Program. (T-1415). Olsen explained Marc's talents to the jury:

When we needed something done we could go get Marc to help get it done, I don't care if it was construction or

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