# FILED SID J. WHITE

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FEB 22 1993

GLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

MARC CHRISTMAS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 79,044

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 300179

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

#

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

Additionally, while Christmas' formal arrest on the charges had occurred almost eight months previously, it should still be noted that upon his arrest, Christmas was advised of his rights under Miranda, and chose to waive them (R 876-880). Christmas then gave an exculpatory version of the events in question, in which he stated that he had not been present when the murders occurred, and it would not appear that he ever expressly invoked his right to silence or to counsel during any interview with law enforcement personnel.

Battie, like Estelle v. Smith, 451 U.S. 454, 101 S.Ct. 1866, 68 L.Ed.2d 359 (1981), involved custodial interrogation by a court-appointed psychologist; additionally, in Hargrave v. State, 427 So.2d 713, 715, n.8 (Fla. 1983), this Court stated that it found Battie "to be neither persuasive nor of precedential value." Chacko involved a situation in which a prison inmate was called to the office of a prison official and asked point-blank whether he had been involved in a recent stabbing incident; the Pennsylvania Supreme Court held that Chacko should have been advised of his Miranda rights beforehand, but concluded that admission of the statement, in which Chacko admitted the In Walker, the defendant was in custody stabbing, was harmless. awaiting trial, when a custodial officer said to him, "What's a young boy like you doing charged with murder?"; the defendant then admitted, for the first time, that he, and not accomplice, had killed the victim. The Tennessee court concluded that the defendant had, under Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 100 S.Ct. 1682, 64 L.Ed.2d 297 (1980), been subjected to interrogation, and that he should have first been advised of his rights under Miranda; the court concluded, however, that any error was harmless, and likewise found any violation of Walker's Sixth Amendment rights, under Michigan v. Jackson, 475 U.S. 625, 106 S.Ct. 1404, 89 L.Ed.2d 631 (1986), to be harmless, as well. These cases are distinguishable, although it is worth noting that Appellant's claimed error is clearly subject to a harmless error analysis.

Appellee would contend that this case, in fact, bears great similarity to two other capital cases decided by this Court, Garcia v. State, 492 So.2d 360 (Fla. 1986), and Christopher v. State, 583 So.2d 642 (Fla. 1991). Garcia involved an admission made by a defendant, in custody for the offense at issue, to a police driver. This Court held as follows:

While being transported from one jail to another, appellant engaged in conversation with the police driver. No Miranda warnings were given. However, contrary to appellant's suggestion, the officer driver did not engage in the functional equivalent of questioning (citation omitted). The officer involved was not assigned to investigations or to the Garcia case. He was assigned full time to transporting prisoners and was not a trained interviewer or interrogator. indicates the conversation was desultory, pursued by appellant, and had lapsed for a  $\mathsf{of}$ ten minutes or so period when the appellant spontaneously stated that the state didn't have any witnesses because he and his partners didn't leave any. The driver did respond to nor follow up on this not admission. Under circumstances the approve the ruling admitting this statement.

Id., at 365.

Garcia is significant because this Court, in resolving the issue before it, did not solely focus upon whether Garcia had been "in custody" or whether the police driver had been an "agent of the State". Rather, this Court noted that the driver had no duties of investigation or interrogation, and that the defendant had simply made a "spontaneous" statement to him; obviously, these observations apply to the case at bar, as well. While it would appear that the part-time bailiffs in this case participated in the discussion to a greater extent than did the police driver in Garcia, Appellee would respectfully suggest that such fact is not

determinative. While, under other circumstances, the question, "Who shot the victim?", could be said to compel a response, such plainly did not occur <u>sub judice</u>. Christmas' jocular comeback was, "Who do you think?". Far from assuming a confrontational or accusatorial tone, the bailiff replied that he thought that Christmas' co-defendant, Stein, had done the shooting. Ust as in Garcia, Christmas simply chose to confide in the wrong people.

Christopher likewise involved a situation i.n defendant, "in custody", made incriminating statements to law enforcement officers. In Christopher, the defendant had been arrested in Tennessee for a Florida murder; at such time, he had been interrogated and made a confession which was later ordered suppressed. Two days later, he was taken to the airport for the flight back to Florida. At this time, he asked a Florida detective what would happen to his girlfriend. When the officer replied that she would be returned to her mother, Christopher stated that if he had not been caught, he would have killed one more person. This Court held that Christopher's statement was properly admitted, despite the absence of Miranda warnings, in that the statement had been volunteered, and had not been made during interrogation. In contrast to Garcia and the case at bar, it should be noted that the statements in Christopher were made law enforcement officer whose specific duty was to

Miranda states that one of the common techniques of interrogation is for "the police to display an air of confidence in the suspect's guilt"; "the interrogator should direct his comments toward the reasons why the subject committed the act, rather than court failure by asking the subject whether he did it." Miranda, 384 U.S. at 451. Obviously, the bailiffs in this case did not conduct themselves in this fashion.

investigate crime and to interrogate Christopher; additionally, Christopher, unlike Christmas, had previously sought to invoke his right to silence and/or counsel in a prior confession, given only two days before the statement at issue. Christopher is comparable to other Florida cases which have upheld the admission of volunteered statements by defendants to police officers, trustees and jailers. See, e.g., Holston v. State, 208 So.2d 98 (Fla. 1968) (Miranda rights not required, in regard to admission which incarcerated defendant volunteered to jail trustee who "was not a law enforcement officer"); Ashley v. State, 265 So.2d 685, 690 (Fla. 1972) (Miranda not violated by admission of statement which defendant volunteered to jailer; statement was spontaneous and "made to person who was not acting in the capacity of an interrogator, but who just happened to be present and about the performance of his duties as jailer when the Appellant made the statement of his own volition."); Endress v. State, 462 So.2d 872 2nd DCA 1985) (Miranda not violated by admission of (Fla. statements which incarcerated defendant made to visiting police officer, where detective was personal friend of defendant and did not interrogate defendant about the case); Endress v. Dugger, 880 F.2d 1244 (11th Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 495 U.S. 904, 110 S.Ct. 1923, 109 L.Ed.2d 287 (1990) (same case). On the basis of such precedents, especially Garcia, Christopher and Ashley, it is clear that reversible error has not occurred sub judice.

Perhaps the closest case factually, however, is from out of state. People v. Ashford, 265 Cal.App.2d 673, 71 Cal.Rptr. 619 (Cal.Ct.App. 1968), also involved a situation in which a

defendant chose to confide his criminality to a courtroom bailiff mid-trial. The circumstances are virtually identical to the case During a noon recess, the defendant told the bailiff that the State witness who had just finished testifying had been "a liar", and proceeded to add other comments. here, called the bailiff to testify at trial. On appeal, Ashford contended that this testimony was wrongfully admitted, "because he was not admonished, nor did he expressly waive his right to have counsel present," as required by Miranda v. Arizona, supra. The California appellate court rejected this argument, holding that the defendant had initiated the conversation, and noting that, at most, the bailiff had initially greeted Ashford with, "How's it going, Ashford?"; because the statements had not been the product of custodial interrogation, Miranda did not bar their admission. The same holding can be made here, and Appellee would rely on Ashford, as well as other comparable decisions from other jurisdictions.

In <u>People v. Corporan</u>, 564 N.Y.2d 775 (A.D. 1 Dept.), <u>appeal</u> <u>denied</u>, 570 N.Y.2d 492 (N.Y. 1991), several detainees had been in a holding cell, when a police officer, as per routine, called out the name and charge of each inmate during roll call. When the officer called out the defendant's name, and the fact that he was charged with murder, Corporan replied, "I killed a court officer. He'll never humiliate me again." While the State would suggest that the atmosphere in that holding cell was undoubtedly more coercive than it was in the case <u>sub judice</u>, the New York court found that <u>Miranda</u> had not been violated, in that the defendant

had made a spontaneous statement which was not the product of custodial interrogation. Ashford and Corporan dictate that the instant convictions be affirmed. See also Bazzell v. State, 250 A.2d 674 (Md.Ct.Spec.App. 1969) (Miranda did not bar admission of statements made by defendant to police sergeant who brought lunch to his cell, even though defendant had previously invoked his rights; defendant's admissions had been volunteered and occurred during the course of a "general conversation" such as not to be the product of "custodial interrogation"); State v. Denton, 752 P.2d 537 (Wash.App. 1990) (Miranda did not bar admissions which defendant made to police officer in telephone call, initiated by defendant, where defendant responded to detective's question, "Did you do it?"; no readvisement of rights necessary, despite fact that defendant had previously invoked right to counsel, and defendant's initiation of phone call found also to be waiver of rights under Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 101 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L.Ed.2d 378 (1981)); Rankin v. State, 541 So.2d 577 (Ala.Cir.App. (Miranda did not bar admission of statements which 1988) defendant made to police dispatcher, who called him in hospital room and asked what happened; dispatcher, who had not been hired as a law enforcement officer, talked to defendant as "personal friend"); Roberts v. United States, 441 F.2d 1162 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 403 U.S. 936, 91 S.Ct. 2269, 29 L.Ed.2d 716 (1971) (Miranda did not bar admissions which defendant made to police officer in courthouse corridor, where officer was personal friend of defendant and not engaged in interrogation regarding offense); United States v. Thomas, 475 F.2d 115 (10th Cir. 1973) (Miranda

did not bar admission of statements which defendant made to federal marshals who were transporting him between courts, where defendant volunteered statements and no interrogation occurred).

What all of these cases have in common is that they reject the narrow approach endorsed by Christmas, <u>i.e.</u>, focusing solely upon whether the defendant was "in custody" and/or whether the bailiffs should be considered "agents of the State"; the courts

Appellee would respectfully contend that such approach has merit, and, to the extent that Young v. State, 234 So.2d 341 (Fla. 1970), which was decided prior to Mathiason holds to the contrary, it should be re-examined. In this case, Christmas was not subject to greater restraints on his liberty at the time that he made these statements. The bailiffs had previously transported him to and from court (R 1131), and it is doubtful that this was his first experience with a holding cell. Bailiff Hall testified that, while Appellant was in the cell, the door had been left open, and he was not handcuffed or shackled at the time (R 1133-1134, 1138); additionally, his attorneys were "right outside." (R 1122). While Christmas was not "free to leave", he was not subject to additional coercive restraints on his liberty. Accordingly, under Cervantes and Conley, the element of custody was missing, and for that reason as well, Miranda warnings were not necessary.

<sup>9</sup> While, at first blush, the issue of custody would seem to be to little debate, Appellee would note that jurisdictions have rejected the notion that every incarcerated defendant is automatically "in custody" for purposes of Miranda. Thus, in Cervantes v. Walker, 589 F.2d 424 (9th Cir. 1978), the Ninth Circuit declined to read Mathis v. United States, 391 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1503, 20 L.Ed.2d 381 (1968), as requiring such holding, finding that such approach would "torture [Miranda] to the illogical position of providing greater protection to a prisoner than to his non-imprisoned counterpart." Cervantes, 589 F.2d at 427. Rather, following the holding of Oregon v. Mathiason, 429 U.S. 492, 97 S.Ct. 711, 50 L.Ed.2d 714 (1977), the court held that incarcerated persons need only be advised of if, due to a change in circumstances, additional impositions had been placed on their freedom of movement, at the time of any questioning. Other courts have chosen to follow Cervantes in this regard. See, e.g., United States v. Conley, 779 F.2d 970 (4th Cir. 1985); <u>Leviston v. Black</u>, 843 F.2d 302 (8th Cir.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 488 U.S. 865, 109 S.Ct. 168, 102 L.Ed.2d 138 (1988); <u>United States v. Willoughby</u>, 860 F.2d 15 (2nd Cir. 1988), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 1033, 109 S.Ct. 846, 102 L.Ed.2d 978 (1989).

instead looked to whether the purposes of <u>Miranda</u> itself would be furthered by suppressing the evidence. In this case, no purpose would be served by holding that civilian bailiffs are required to read <u>Miranda</u> to an incarcerated defendant who, for reasons best known to himself, chooses to spontaneously make admissions to them; there, of course, has been no showing that the bailiffs in this case, who lacked any law enforcement training, even knew what <u>Miranda</u> was. There was, in this case, absolutely no coercion or compulsion exerted upon Christmas due to the interaction of custody and "official interrogation."

Christmas, like the inmate in Perkins, considered himself among friends; in contrast to the situation in such cases as Walls v. State, 580 So.2d 131 (Fla. 1991), there was absolutely no deception on the part of State agents in this regard. was testimony that he and the bailiffs, who were close in age to him, had had a number of prior amicable conversations on various topics (R 1131-1132); there was also, significantly, testimony that after this conversation took place, Christmas felt confident enough to yet again discuss this murder with Vincent Hall, while the two were in the courtroom, the next morning, with other persons present (R 1136-1138). Far from being depressed or nervous, Christmas "laughed and joked around", according to Carroll (R 1162). Just as the police are not required, under Miranda itself, to stop a person who comes into the police station, or who calls such location, to offer a confession, Miranda, 384 U.S. at 479, it is likewise not incumbent upon courtroom personnel, who are not trained as law enforcement officers and who lack training or responsibility for interrogation or investigation, to stop a defendant who chooses to unburden himself to them; this is especially true in the case of a defendant like Christmas, who by virtue of his prior record and prior waiver of Miranda in this case, was unquestionably more aware of his rights, than were the bailiffs. The statements at issue were not the product of custodial interrogation, and denial of Appellant's motion to suppress, on the basis of Miranda v. Arizona, was not error.

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